
 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

 
 
UNITED TEACHERS LOS ANGELES,   

  UNFAIR PRACTICE  
CASE NOS. LA-CE-6025-E & LA-
CE-6027-E 
 
PROPOSED DECISION 
 (June 3, 2016) 
 
 

Charging Party,  
  

v.  
  

ALLIANCE COLLEGE-READY PUBLIC 
SCHOOLS, ALLIANCE SUSAN & ERIC SMIDT 
TECHNOLOGY HIGH SCHOOL, and 
ALLIANCE RENEE & MEYER LUSKIN 
ACADEMY HIGH SCHOOL. 

 

   
Respondents.   

 
Appearances: Bush Gottlieb by Jesús E. Quiñonez and Erica Deutsch, Attorneys, for United 
Teachers Los Angeles; Proskauer Rose by Harold M. Brody and Irina Constantin, Attorneys, 
for Alliance College-Ready Public Schools, Alliance Susan & Eric Smidt Technology High 
School, and Alliance Renee & Meyer Luskin Academy High School. 
 
Before Kent Morizawa, Administrative Law Judge. 
 

In these two consolidated cases, an employee organization claims that several public 

school employers interfered with its rights under the Educational Employment Relations Act 

(EERA).1 The Respondents deny any violation of EERA, and one asserts that PERB lacks 

jurisdiction over it because it is not a public school employer subject to EERA.   

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

 On April 7, 2015, United Teachers Los Angeles (UTLA) filed the unfair practice 

charge in Case Number LA-CE-6025-E with the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB 

________________________ 
1 EERA is codified at Government Code section 3540 et seq. Unless otherwise 

indicated, all statutory references herein are to the Government Code. 
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or Board) against Alliance College-Ready Public Schools (Alliance),2 Alliance Susan & Eric 

Smidt Technology High School (Smidt Tech), and Alliance Renee & Meyer Luskin Academy 

High School (Luskin Academy). On April 28, 2015, UTLA filed the unfair practice charge in 

Case No. LA-CE-6027-E against Alliance, Smidt Tech, and Alliance Gertz-Ressler High 

School (Gertz-Ressler). 

 On June 24, 2015, the PERB Office of the General Counsel issued complaints in both 

cases against Alliance only. The complaint in Case No. LA-CE-6025-E alleges Alliance 

violated EERA section 3543.5, subdivisions (a) and (b), when it: (1) issued several 

communications to teachers and members of the public regarding UTLA’s organizing 

campaign; (2) terminated an after-school meeting at Smidt-Tech between a UTLA organizer 

and teachers; (3) blocked UTLA emails sent to employees’ work email addresses; and (4) 

refused to allow UTLA organizers to enter Luskin Academy for a meeting with teachers. The 

complaint in Case No. LA-CE-6027-E alleges Alliance violated EERA section 3543.5, 

subdivisions (a) and (b), when it: (1) questioned a teacher at Smidt Tech about her meeting 

with a UTLA organizer; and (2) removed a teacher from a professional development meeting 

and instructed her to stop distributing union-related flyers. 

 Alliance filed answers to the complaints denying any violation of EERA and setting 

forth its affirmative defenses. The parties participated in an informal settlement conference on 

August 21, 2015, but the matters were not resolved. The cases were then consolidated and set 

for formal hearing. 

________________________ 
2 Alliance is erroneously named in the complaints as “Alliance College-Ready Public 

Charter Schools.” 
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 On October 16, 2015, Alliance filed first amended answers to the complaints, denying it 

was a “public school employer” within the meaning of EERA section 3540.1, subdivision (k), 

and asserting PERB lacks jurisdiction over it as a result. On the same date, Alliance filed a 

motion to dismiss the complaints. 

 On October 28, 2015, UTLA filed a motion to consolidate these two cases with two 

other PERB cases involving the same parties—Case Nos. LA-CE-6061-E and LA-CE-6073-E. 

 On October 29, 2015, Alliance’s motion to dismiss and UTLA’s motion to consolidate 

were denied. 

 Formal hearing was held on eight non-consecutive days in November and December of 

2015 and January of 2016. 

 On November 2, 2015, Alliance filed second amended answers to the complaints, 

asserting that the underlying claims in the complaints and PERB’s jurisdiction are preempted 

by the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA).3 

 On November 6, 2015, UTLA filed a motion to amend the complaints to add as 

respondents each of the individual charter schools within Alliance’s network of schools.  

 On December 7, 2015, UTLA’s motion to amend the complaints was granted in part to 

add Smidt Tech as a respondent to both complaints and to add Luskin Academy as a 

respondent to the complaint in Case No. LA-CE-6027-E. First amended complaints were 

issued in both cases reflecting the amendments. 

 On December 15, 2015, Smidt Tech and Luskin Academy filed answers to the first 

amended complaints, denying any violation of EERA and setting forth their affirmative 

defenses.  

________________________ 
3 The NLRA is codified at Title 29 United States Code section 151 et seq. 
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The matter was submitted for proposed decision with the completion of post-hearing 

briefing on May 16, 2016. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

Parties 

 UTLA is an employee organization within the meaning of EERA section 3540.1, 

subdivision (d). 

 Alliance is a non-profit charter management organization (CMO) affiliated with a 

network of 27 charter schools within the geographic boundary of the Los Angeles Unified 

School District (LAUSD).  

 Smidt Tech and Luskin Academy (collectively, “the Schools”) are individual charter 

schools within Alliance’s network of schools and are public school employers within the 

meaning of EERA section 3540.1, subdivision (k).  

Alliance’s relationship with the Schools 

 Alliance developed the Schools as its subsidiaries and is the holder of record for each 

school’s charter. The Schools are each organized as an individual non-profit public benefit 

corporation whose sole member is Alliance. Alliance’s rights of membership include the right 

to vote on the election of directors to the corporation’s board, the disposition of the 

corporation’s assets, and any election to dissolve the corporation. Upon dissolution of the 

corporation, all remaining assets will be distributed to Alliance after repayment of any debts 

and obligations. 

 The charter petitions for the Schools state that their affairs will be managed and its 

powers exercised under the ultimate jurisdiction of the Alliance board of directors. The charter 

petitions further state that the Schools shall be incorporated as non-profit public benefit 
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corporations as part of the “Alliance group exemption as with all charter schools created, 

owned and operated by the Alliance.” Smidt Tech’s five-member board of directors includes 

the Alliance President/Chief Executive Officer (CEO), three members of the Alliance board of 

directors, the Smidt Tech principal, one ex-officio teacher, one ex-officio parent, and one ex-

officio LAUSD representative. The eight voting directors of Luskin Academy’s board of 

directors includes the Alliance President/CEO, five members of the Alliance board of 

directors, the Luskin Academy principal, one teacher, and one parent. There is also one non-

voting LAUSD representative. The Schools lease their facilities from corporations owned and 

operated by Alliance. 

 The services Alliance provides to the Schools are set forth in the management services 

agreements between Alliance and the Schools as follows: 

(a) creating the School, including, but not limited to, any and 
all required legal and financial filings; 

(b) creating, preparing and submitting the School’s charter; 
(c) researching, locating and preparing a suitable facility (the 

“Facility”) for the operation of the School; 
(d) researching, providing or preparing for any future 

expansion of the Facility to accommodate growth of the 
School; 

(e) providing professional development training for certain 
employees of the Company4 prior to the commencement 
of the school year and continuing throughout the school 
year as necessary; 

(f) providing office services, such as accounting, payroll, 
human resources and billing; 

(g) supervising the annual budget; 
(h) developing and executing fundraising opportunities; 
(i) working with the Los Angeles Unified School District (the 

“LAUSD”) as necessary, including complying with 
reporting requirements and any other general inquiries 
received from the LAUSD; 

________________________ 
4 “Company” refers to Smidt Tech or Luskin Academy in each management services 

agreement. 
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(j) supervising the parent coordinator and parent involvement 
generally; 

(k) marketing for student enrollment; 
(l) assisting with public relations; 
(m) writing grants for state and other  funding; 
(n) providing guidance relating to the curriculum; 
(o) providing support for information technology; 
(p) providing financial support as needed; provided, however, 

that such support be agreed to by the parties in a separate 
writing; and [Emphasis in original.] 

(q) providing any other operational or educational needs 
relating to the School that the Company may reasonably 
request of Manager. 

 
Alliance provides these services through what is known as the “Home Office,” which staffs 

about 95 employees and includes several different departments, including the Human 

Resources Department (HR), the Office of the Controller, and the Office of the CEO. The 

departments in the Home Office are not replicated at each school site. For its services, Alliance 

receives a monthly fee equal to seven percent of total revenues of each school. 

 The Alliance CEO hires the Schools’ principals with final approval by the Alliance 

board of directors. The principals report to their respective school’s board of directors. The 

principals are evaluated twice a year by an Alliance Area Superintendent, who oversees their 

performance and supports them in the fulfillment of the Schools’ charters.  

Overview of the Alliance network 

 Principals at Alliance schools have autonomy in managing the day-to-day affairs of 

their site. For example, they decide what electives to offer, what curriculum will be taught, 

how to allocate monies in the budget, whether to grant teachers’ leave requests, and how their 

site will purchase and implement technology in the classroom. Principals set the work day for 

their site and the scheduling of classes. They are responsible for maintaining employee 

attendance records and for reporting that information to Alliance for processing of payroll. 
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Principals are able to contract with outside vendors provided those vendors meet certain legal 

requirements to interact with students, such as passing a tuberculosis test and a background 

check.  

 Principals determine staffing needs for their site and have autonomy to hire teachers 

when they deem it necessary. To initiate the hiring process, a principal will contact HR and ask 

it to post a vacancy on EDJOIN, an online clearinghouse for open teaching positions across 

California. Applicants apply through EDJOIN, and the applications are screened by the 

principal. The principal then conducts interviews and determines who she wishes to hire. At 

that point, HR requests information from the successful applicant necessary to verify the 

applicant’s eligibility for employment as a public school teacher in California. For example, 

HR will verify that the applicant possesses a valid teaching credential and ask the applicant to 

undergo a background check. HR also notifies any unsuccessful applicants that they were not 

selected for the position. Once the applicant is deemed eligible for employment, HR generates 

an employment contract prepared from the same template used for all teachers, which is then 

signed by the principal and the new hire. New hires must participate in a new hire orientation 

organized by the Home Office prior to the beginning of the school year. 

   As with hiring decisions, principals have autonomy over employee discipline and 

discharge. Dean Marolla-Turner, Smidt Tech principal, testified that while he may consult with 

HR regarding a disciplinary matter, the ultimate decision lies with him, and he gave several 

examples of when he did not abide by a recommendation from HR. For example, he released a 

teacher in the middle of the school year despite HR recommending that he wait until the end of 

the school year to do so.  
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 Although HR generally takes a hands-off approach to personnel decisions at the 

schools, there were at least two instances in the record where it took a more direct approach. In 

one instance, Laura Alvarez, Alliance’s Vice President of HR, was involved in negotiations 

surrounding the termination of a teacher. The teacher’s settlement proposal was referred to 

Alvarez, who ultimately responded with the school’s response. The principal of the school did 

not present any offers to the teachers on the school’s behalf. In another example, HR 

intervened in a dispute between a teacher and her school regarding the use of sick leave to 

observe a religious holiday. The school denied the use of sick leave. However, HR intervened 

and stated that Alliance would permit teachers to use accrued sick leave when observing 

religious holidays.  

 Principals and their administrative staff are responsible for evaluating the teachers at 

their site. The Home Offices give principals general guidance on how to conduct teacher 

evaluations through its Area Superintendents. While the Home Office does not participate 

directly in teacher evaluations, it developed the teacher effectiveness rubric that principals and 

their staff use to evaluate teachers. Teachers are evaluated twice a year and rated from one to 

four in each practice area identified in the rubric. A teacher’s evaluation score makes up 55 

percent of her effectiveness rating. The effectiveness rating is then used to determine teacher 

salary. Furthermore, teachers who receive low evaluation scores are typically not asked to 

return the following year.   

 The schools’ budgets are comprised primarily of state funds. Like that of other public 

schools, the specific funding level is based on average daily attendance at each school. The 

Home Office does not dictate to principals how to allocate their budgets, but it does keeps 

track of each school’s spending and makes sure that each school is operating within its budget. 
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The budgeting process for each school starts in April when a staff member from the Office of 

the Controller meets with the principal to discuss the following year’s budget. The principal is 

free to make adjustments to the budget to fit the needs of the individual school in the coming 

school year. In June, a representative from the Home Office presents the budget to the school’s 

board of directors for approval. Each school maintains bank accounts separate from other 

schools and from the Alliance itself. However, for a principal to access her school’s account, 

she must do so through the Home Office. 

 HR developed an employee handbook containing policies and procedures that govern a 

variety of topics, including staff and student interactions; employee attendance; email and 

internet usage; discipline and termination; and vacation, holidays, and leaves. The handbook 

was given to all certificated staff, who were required to sign an acknowledgement of receipt 

that states: 

I ACKNOWLEDGE that I have received a copy of the Employee 
Handbook for Certificated Staff. I have read and understood the 
contents of the Handbook, and I agree to abide by its directions 
and procedures. I have been given the opportunity to ask any 
questions I might have about the policies in the Handbook. I 
understand that it is my responsibility to read and familiarize 
myself with the policies and procedures contained in the 
Handbook. 
 
I understand that the statements contained in the Handbook are 
guidelines for employees concerning some of the School’s 
policies and benefits, and are not intended to create any 
contractual or other legal obligations or to alter the nature of my 
employment with the School. 
 
I understand that any and all policies or practices can be changed 
at any time by the School. 
 

One example where a school might deviate from the employee handbook is in the area of 

teacher pay. The employee handbook states teachers will be paid according to the network-
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wide teacher salary schedule that is based on years of experience and teacher effectiveness. In 

most cases, teachers are paid according to the salary schedule. However, principals have 

discretion to deviate from the salary schedule when making offers to new hires. This could 

include a one-time signing bonus or a salary that is not listed in the salary schedule. Principals 

do not need approval from the Home Office to deviate from the salary schedule so long as the 

school’s budget can support it. 

 The Home Office plays a role in determining the curriculum used at each school site. It 

develops a menu of several core curriculum options for use by the schools in its network. 

However, principals are not required to use these options and are free to choose a curriculum 

of their own. In addition to core curriculum, Alliance implements network-wide programs, 

such as Blended Learning for Alliance School Transformation (BLAST). BLAST is used at all 

sites and is designed to provide students with access to technology.  

 The Home Office organizes network-wide professional development sessions for all 

teachers in its network. These sessions are developed by the Home Office and led by its staff. 

In addition to network-wide sessions, each school site conducts a weekly professional 

development session. Principals are free to request support from the Home Office when 

conducting site-based professional development sessions.  

 Teachers at Alliance schools do not work at other schools in the network nor can they 

freely transfer between schools. If a teacher wishes to teach at another school, she must resign 

from her current position and apply for a position at the other school and be hired by that 

school’s principal. The Home Office maintains and updates teacher job descriptions and 

maintains the personnel files for each teacher. Teachers at Alliance schools receive the same 
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menu of health benefits, and the Home Office is responsible for coordinating these benefits 

with third party carriers. 

UTLA’s organizing campaign and Alliance’s response 

 On March 13, 2015,5 teachers and counselors working at Alliance schools emailed Dan 

Katzir, the incoming CEO and President of Alliance; Judy Burton, the current CEO and 

President of Alliance; and members of the Alliance board of directors announcing their 

decision to organize a union with UTLA. In conjunction with this email, they distributed a 

Mission Statement signed by teachers and counselors from seven Alliance schools discussing 

their decision to organize. Among the signatories were Michelle Buckowski, a teacher at Smidt 

Tech, and Elena Goldbaum, a teacher at Gertz-Ressler. 

1. March 16 Alliance fact sheet 

 On March 16, Alliance issued a document titled “Some FACTS about Unionizing & 

United Teachers of Los Angeles (UTLA)” to teachers and counselors employed at Alliance 

schools. The document is quoted in the complaint as follows: 

[O]ur schools consistently outperform traditional neighboring 
public schools and are nationally recognized as some of the best 
schools in the nation. We are especially proud that we have 
achieved these results serving low-income students of color. 
 
We are also incredibly proud that we’ve recruited and developed 
among the best and most dedicated educators in the country, 
which has allowed us to become one of the most successful 
public school organizations in the nation. 
 
We share Alliance teachers’ commitment to providing a high 
quality education for all students. It is precisely because of that 
shared commitment that Alliance students have been so 
successful. We believe that our success has come from putting 

________________________ 
5 All subsequent dates occurred in 2015. 
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our students first. We remain steadfast in our commitment to 
always put the needs of students first and foremost. 
 

[* * *] 
 
FACT: Teachers have the right to decide for themselves, free 
from coercion, whether they want—or don’t want—to be 
represented by a union. If you do not want to sign anything, you 
do not have to do so. Do not sign any petition or authorization 
card without having all the facts. 
 

[* * *] 
 

FACT: A union authorization card is a binding legal document. It 
is similar to a power of attorney or blank check. A signed card 
can result in unionization without an election. Teachers need to 
get the facts before signing anything.[6] 

 
FACT: The law does not require “full disclosure” by union 
organizers of all the facts needed to have a balanced view.[footnote 

omitted] 

 

[* * *] 
 
FACT: Joining the union does not guarantee increased pay, 
benefits and any other working conditions. Every item must be 
negotiated. It may result in less; the same or more than you have 
now. If it is the same or less, then remember that you will have 
lost because of the obligation to pay dues. [footnote omitted] 

 
FACT: There are rules which union members must follow which 
are found in the NEA’s constitution and UTLA’s by-laws. Union 
rules generally include the right to discipline members for 
violations (typically through fines). These union rules are a 
binding contract between the union and its members.[footnote omitted] 

 
[* * *] 

 
FACT: Teachers represented by UTLA at LAUSD have seen no 
increase in pay for the last 8 years.[footnote omitted] Last year, in 
2014-15, Alliance teachers received an 8% pay raise without a 

________________________ 
6 “There is no statutory provision prohibiting misrepresentations by a union or 

rendering a signed authorization card invalid because the employee signed in reliance upon 
misrepresentation.” 
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union. Currently, UTLA remains stalled in contract negotiations 
with LAUSD. 
 
FACT: UTLA does not support performance-based compensation 
of any kind. [footnote omitted] For the past three years, Alliance has 
provided individual performance bonuses for effective teaching 
that includes partial measure for student growth. In December 
2014, 99% of Alliance teachers received a pay bonus based on 
performance. 
 

2. March 18 incident at Smidt Tech 

 March 18 was a professional development day for teachers at Smidt Tech where 

students were dismissed early. Teachers were scheduled to continue working until 4:00 p.m., 

but Lori Rhodes, Smidt Tech’s principal, released them early at around 3:40 p.m. Foster 

arrived on campus after the teachers had been dismissed and met with several of them in 

Buckowski’s classroom. The meeting lasted about an hour. Towards the end of the meeting, 

Rhodes entered Buckowski’s classroom and informed Buckowski and a school counselor that 

she was getting ready to close down the campus for the day. Rhodes left without addressing 

Foster. 

 Rhodes entered Buckowski’s classroom a second time while Foster and Buckowski 

were packing up to leave. Rhodes asked Foster if she was the individual who had signed into 

campus earlier. Foster replied that she was. Rhode then stated that Foster was not permitted to 

be on campus and directed her to leave. Foster disagreed that she was not permitted to be there, 

but complied. 

 Foster and Buckowski left campus together. Along the way, Buckowski stopped by the 

main office to drop off a radio. At that time, Rhodes called her into her office and made 

statements indicating her frustration that a large number of Smidt Tech teachers had signed the 

Mission Statement and her unfavorable view of UTLA and its position vis-à-vis charter 
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schools. Rhodes further stated it was possible for Buckowski to remove her name from the 

Mission Statement as another teacher had already done. When Rhodes asked why Buckowski 

was supporting UTLA, Buckowski made reference to her low evaluation scores the prior 

semester. Rhodes then stated she had worked to keep Buckowski and chose not to record 

negative comments about Buckowski that she could have.   

 Buckowski left Rhodes’ office and rejoined Foster where she relayed to Foster the 

details of her conversation with Rhodes. 

3. March 20 Alliance FAQ  

 On March 20, Alliance issued a document titled “UTLA Unionization Campaign at 

Alliance Schools FAQs for Alliance Educators & School Community” to teachers and 

counselors employed at Alliance schools. The document is quoted in the complaint as follows: 

Since the inception of Alliance College-Ready Public Charter 
Schools 11 years ago, one of our five core values has been to 
guarantee highly effective educators for all students. As such, we 
have dedicated significant focus, time and resources to attract, 
develop and retain the very best teachers. We pride ourselves on 
working collaboratively with teachers, supporting their creativity 
and innovation in the classroom, and providing multiple 
leadership and professional growth opportunities. 
 
Our collaborative relationship among teachers and between 
teachers and administrators is at the core of our success as one of 
the highest performing public school networks in the country. We 
are most proud of our shared commitment to serving low-income, 
students of color in some of our most underserved communities. 
It is not easy work, but together we have and will continue to 
defy the odds and prove the [sic] exceptional public education is 
possible for all students. 
 
Given recent activity by United Teachers of Los Angeles (UTLA) 
to organize Alliance teachers into their union, we feel it is our 
responsibility to inform our teachers and school community about 
the potential impact of unionization with UTLA. 
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In response to the many questions we have received regarding the 
UTLA campaign at Alliance, we have put together some 
Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs). 
 

[* * *] 
 
FACT: UTLA has been unable to reach a contract agreement with 
LAUSD. They have not had a new contract since 2011. . . 
 

[* * *] 
 
FACT: Joining the union does not guarantee increased pay, 
benefits and any other working conditions. Every item must be 
negotiated. It may result in less, the same or more than you have 
now. If it is the same or less, then remember that you will have 
lost because of the obligation to pay union dues.[footnote omitted] 
 
Fact: The union creates a barrier to the collaborative working 
relationship of teachers with their administrators. . . 
 

[* * *] 
 
We intentionally were founded as a network of charter schools to 
provide our teachers with the space to be creative and innovative 
professionals who are dedicated to serving low-income students 
in disadvantaged communities throughout Los Angeles. We 
believe in the promise of charter schools—in exchange for higher 
levels of accountability for student academic achievement, we are 
granted autonomy and independence from the bureaucracy of 
traditional districts and, yes, the bureaucracy of unions. Because 
we have the freedom to continually innovate, learn and improve, 
we can meet the needs of individual students and provide all 
students the very best education. We feel that unionization can 
and will fundamentally put at risk our core values, our 
collaborative working environment, and most importantly, the 
flexibility and autonomy that has allowed us to become one of the 
highest performing public school networks in the country. 
 

[* * *] 
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FACT: The union can say or promise anything to get you to sign. 
The union can even lie or mislead you and your signature will 
still be valid![7]   
 

[* * *] 
 
FACT: Unfortunately, the law permits a union representative to 
say just about anything to get you to sign a legally binding 
document. . . 
 

[* * *] 
 
Most importantly, we encourage all staff to stay focused on our 
priority, which is providing our students with the highest quality 
education. At the end of the day, that is why we are all here. 
 
This document has been reviewed by legal counsel for accuracy. 
 

(Emphasis in original.) 

4. March 23 Katzir email 

On March 23, Katzir sent an email to all employees that is quoted in the complaint as 

follows: 

Education is in my blood and has been a huge part of my life’s 
work. My parents were both teachers, I’m a proud product of 
Florida’s public schools, and strengthening urban public 
education has been a focal point throughout my entire career. 
 
I studied education history in college, served as Teach for 
America’s first Chief Operating Officer, developed a principal 
and teacher training program at UCLA, ran a successful after-
school reading-intervention program in under-performing 
LAUSD schools, and then helped to launch the Broad 
Foundation, which I led for more than a decade. 
 
Now I feel like I’m home, with an exhilarating chance to work 
shoulder-to-shoulder with our educators to help you continue to 
make a difference in the lives of the children of Los Angeles. 

________________________ 
7 “There is no statutory provision prohibiting misrepresentations by a union or 

rendering a signed authorization card invalid because the employee signed in reliance upon 
misrepresentation.” 
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We say that Alliance is “Where Exceptional is the Rule.” I’m so 
proud that the Alliance has shown that every single public school 
can be excellent and every single child has the opportunity to 
succeed. 
 
Alliance has been transforming the lives of our students since its 
inception, and I’m here to honor and build on that tradition of 
excellence. My three aspirations for taking our schools to the next 
level—or my “ABCs,” if you will—are: 
 

Academic Achievement: The Alliance has done a phenomenal 
job of establishing itself as a top performer in Los Angeles. In our 
second decade, I’d like us to aspire to be a top-tier performer in 
California, and across the country—measured by the success of 
our students through high school and to and through college. 
[Emphasis in original.] 
 

Establishing Alliance as a Best Place to Work: I want the 
Alliance to be and be known as a learning community where each 
of us finds meaning and joy in our work every day. We are only 
as good as our people, and we are only as good as our culture of 
collaboration, support, and excellence. I am committed to making 
Alliance a community where voices matter, are heard and listened 
to. [Emphasis in original.] 
 

Fostering a Culture of Innovation and Excellence: I am excited 
to build on the Alliance’s strong work in personalized learning. In 
addition, I want us to identify and internalize what the “Alliance 
Playbook” is—what are the key elements that make an Alliance 
school and the Alliance as a whole successful. I want us to be 
able to share our best practices across our own network more 
effectively, and to share our innovations and lesson learned with 
other public schools. 
 
Given the current unionization campaign being conducted by 
UTLA, there’s obviously a lot of talk right now about how well 
we support our teachers. That provides me with a great 
opportunity to hear from you about what’s working and what 
needs to get better. It’s a conversation I look forward to. Our 
teachers know best what students need, and therefore should have 
a powerful voice at Alliance. I’m committed to making that 
happen, and I ask that you give me a fair opportunity to prove 
that commitment to you—in not just words, but action—before 
you make any decisions on the unionization question. 
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[* * *] 

 
I will be posting my reflections on “CEO Blog” on the Alliance 
Intranet at [web address]. Please use your email username and 
password to sign in. 
 

(Emphasis in original.) 
 

5. March 23 Alliance letter to parents and families 
 
On March 23, Burton and Katzir sent a letter to Alliance parents and families that is 

quoted in the complaint as follows: 

One of the ways we have been able to achieve this success is 
having the ability to hire great teachers, and give them the 
flexibility they need to serve the individual needs of each and 
every student. We have prided ourselves on our independence, 
and the fact that we do things differently from LAUSD and other 
traditional public schools. 
 
Each of you has actively chosen to send your student to an 
Alliance school because you feel that this was the right place for 
your child to succeed academically and be prepared for a great 
future. 
 
We want to make sure you are aware of a current effort underway 
that has the potential to significantly impact the independence 
and flexibility that have historically been the hallmarks of our 
success. 
 
United Teachers Los Angeles (UTLA) is the union that represents 
LAUSD teachers. Almost all aspects of teacher’s work at 
LAUSD are governed by a 359-page contract between the 
LAUSD and the UTLA union. Everything from the hours they 
work, to how they communicate with their principal, to how they 
are allowed to interact with students is governed by this contract. 
For instance, at an LAUSD school, if a teacher is having an issue 
with their principal, they are not allowed to have a conversation 
and address the issue directly; they must have that conversation 
through their union representative. 
 
As you know, Alliance schools are charter schools. Being a 
charter school is what allows us to operate independently from 
most of the usual rules of LAUSD and the UTLA union. 
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UTLA is on record as being openly hostile and opposed to charter 
schools, including Alliance schools. They have supported laws 
that would restrict or even eliminate charter schools, including 
Alliance schools. 
 
Now, UTLA is undertaking an effort to organize our teachers into 
their union. You may wonder why they would do that, given their 
opposition to our schools. The honest answer is that we cannot be 
sure, though we know unions are always looking to increase the 
number of teachers who are required to pay union membership 
dues. If UTLA is successful in getting a majority of our teachers 
to vote to join the union, then all teachers will have to join the 
UTLA union and follow their rules, even those who did not want 
to join. 
 
We do not believe UTLA has the best interest of our students or 
our teachers at heart. They see the independence and success of 
our schools as a threat to union power and influence in public 
education. 
 
In annual Alliance teacher surveys, 90% or more of our teachers 
routinely say they are very happy with their jobs and feel 
supported by their school leaders. Teachers have a powerful voice 
at Alliance. Their input and feedback guides our curriculum, 
instruction and teacher training. Last year, Alliance teachers 
received an 8% pay increase, whereas teachers represented by 
UTLA at LAUSD schools have not had a raise in 8 years. 
 
We understand that some teachers have legitimate concerns that 
may lead them to support the formation of a union. We are 
absolutely committed to addressing those concerns and, in fact, 
want to maintain the flexibility we need to address them quickly 
and creatively instead of being governed by a long, rigid, 
bureaucratic union contract. We are committed to continuing to 
make the Alliance the best place to teach in Los Angeles. 
 
We wanted to ensure you are apprised of this situation and have a 
clear understanding of our point of view. We also want to assure 
you that our sole focus will always be to provide your child the 
highest quality education we can. 
 
For more information about this effort and how you can get 
involved, visit www.ouralliancecommunity.com, talk to your 
school principal, or email [email address]. 
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The complaint quotes the www.ouralliancecommunity.com website as stating: 

UTLA has not won a raise for teachers at LAUSD for the past 8 
years. Their current negotiations are stalled. They are the only 
union to not reach (or nearly reach) a contract agreement with 
LAUSD. 
 

6. Alliance’s treatment of UTLA’s March 25 email 

 Prior to March 25, UTLA had successfully sent emails to Alliance teachers at their 

work email addresses, the most recent email being sent on March 18.  On March 25, UTLA 

sent an email to Alliance teachers at their work email addresses regarding the ongoing 

organizational campaign. Foster testified to her belief that Alliance blocked the email. Her 

belief was based on statements from teachers who reported they did not receive the email and 

statements from UTLA’s third-party contractor, Leighton Woodhouse, who reported the email 

received an unusually high bounce back rate. The statements from the teachers and Woodhouse 

are hearsay and fall under no exception to the hearsay rule. Therefore, they are insufficient by 

themselves to support a finding that Alliance blocked the March 25 email. (See PERB 

Regulation 32176 [“Hearsay evidence is admissible but shall not be sufficient in itself to 

support a finding unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions.”) Foster also 

testified that “Alliance” stated it was blocking UTLA’s emails. However, this statement 

attributed to Alliance cannot constitute a party admission since Foster did not offer sufficient 

details regarding who made the statement or when it was made. Accordingly, Foster’s 

testimony cannot be used to support a finding that Alliance blocked UTLA’s March 25 email. 

 Goldbaum also testified as to her belief that Alliance blocked emails that UTLA sent to 

Alliance teachers at their work email addresses. Her belief was based on the fact that several 

emails that UTLA sent to teachers were received at her personal email address but not her 

work email address. Goldbaum testified she noticed the discrepancy because she was privy to 
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when UTLA sent emails to Alliance teachers. However, Goldbaum did not provide specifics as 

to when these emails were sent or what their content was.8 Furthermore, her testimony also 

indicated that she had trouble sending and receiving emails in situations unrelated to emails 

from UTLA. While Goldbaum’s testimony provides some direct evidence regarding Alliance’s 

treatment of the March 25 email, I find that it is insufficient by itself support a finding that 

Alliance completely blocked the email from reaching its intended recipients. 

 Although no finding can be made that Alliance completely blocked the March 25 email, 

Alliance does admit in its answer that 

On or about March 25, 2015, it filtered organization-wide email 
communications sent by [UTLA] and intended for simultaneous 
distribution to all Alliance teachers to a “Spam” folder, where the 
emails could be accessed by the intended recipients. 
 

Foster testified that after March 25, UTLA did not attempt to send emails to teachers at their 

Alliance work email addresses, and that individual teachers used their own Alliance email 

accounts to communicate with their colleagues at their work email addresses regarding the 

organizing campaign. 

7. March 26 incident at Luskin Academy 

 Glenn Goldstein and Jesse Yeh are UTLA organizers involved with the organizing 

campaign at Alliance charter schools. On March 26, they arrived at Luskin Academy shortly 

before the end of the school day to attend a scheduled meeting with teachers at the site. As they 

entered the main gate, Chalio Medrano, principal of Luskin Academy, stopped them and asked 

what they were doing on campus. Goldstein and Yeh informed Medrano that they were there to 

attend a meeting with teachers. Medrano stated Luskin Academy is private property and that 

________________________ 
8 A copy of the March 25 email or any others that UTLA asserts Alliance blocked were 

never introduced into evidence. 
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the two could not be there. Goldstein and Yeh disagreed, but left without speaking to any 

teachers. 

8. April 7 professional development session 

 On April 7, Goldbaum attended a professional development session for all teachers 

employed at schools in the Alliance network. At the morning session, Goldbaum sat next to 

Ena Lavan, an Alliance Area Superintendent. The two discussed Goldbaum’s frustration 

surrounding a recent history benchmark examination, and Lavan invited Goldbaum outside to 

discuss further. Once outside, Lavan stated that UTLA was not the right partner for the 

teachers’ unionization effort. After making her opinion known, Lavan switched topics and 

stated she that agreed with the teachers’ frustration regarding the poor leadership of the History 

Content Director. Lavan and Goldbaum then spoke at length about the shortcomings of the 

History Content Director. After this conversation, the two returned to the session. 

 During the lunch break, Goldbaum distributed flyers regarding UTLA’s organizing 

campaign. She did so only during the lunch break. When the afternoon session began, Lavan 

pulled Goldbaum out of her session and stated that she could not distribute union flyers during 

“professional development.” Goldbaum replied that it was her understanding that she could 

distribute such materials during non-work time.  

 On April 8, James Waller, the Gertz-Ressler principal, sent an email to teachers at the 

site that stated in relevant part: 

Unfortunately, I am hearing reports that some Gertz teachers are 
using PD time to discuss unionizing issues and I would like to 
reiterate that any unionizing efforts are fine as long as they are 
handled during non-work time (before and after work, during 
breaks and lunches).  
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Goldbaum replied directly to Waller clarifying that she only handed out flyers during the lunch 

break. Waller replied stating he appreciated that Goldbaum was following the “necessary rules 

and laws regarding unionizing,” but that he sent his email because he did not think everyone 

was doing so. The record does not reflect any further communication between Goldbaum and 

an Alliance or Gertz-Ressler administrator regarding the distribution of union flyers. 

ISSUES 

1. Does PERB have jurisdiction over Alliance? 

2. Did Respondents’ communications constitute unlawful interference? 

3. Did Respondents unlawfully deny UTLA access to the Schools and to Alliance’s 

email system? 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

PERB’s Jurisdiction Over Alliance  

A. Definition of public school employer under EERA 

 Alliance argues that because CMOs are not enumerated as a public school employer 

under EERA section 3540.1, subdivision (k), it cannot be subject to EERA.9  EERA section 

3540.1, subdivision (k), defines “public school employer” to mean: (1) the governing board of 

a school district; (2) a school district; (3) a county board of education; (4) a county 

superintendent of schools; (5) a charter school that has declared itself a public school employer 

pursuant to subdivision (b) of section 47611.5 of the Education Code;10 (6) certain auxiliary 

________________________ 
9 There is no dispute that both Schools are public school employers within the meaning 

of EERA section 3540.1, subdivision (k). 

10 Education Code section 47611.5, subdivision (b), states in pertinent part: 

A charter school charter shall contain a declaration regarding 
whether or not the charter school shall be deemed the exclusive 
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organizations established or authorized by the governing board of a community college district 

or the Board of Governors of the California Community Colleges; or (7) certain entities 

designated as joint powers agencies pursuant to a joint powers agreement between two or more 

public agencies.  

 In North Orange County Regional Occupational Program (1990) PERB Decision 

No. 857 (North Orange County), the Board held that it did not have jurisdiction over a dispute 

involving employees of a joint powers agency because EERA section 3540.1, subdivision (k), 

did not list joint powers agencies as a public school employer subject to EERA. (Id. at 16-17.) 

The Board reviewed other statutes governing school districts and joint powers agencies and 

determined the Legislature was explicit when it wanted a particular body of statutes to apply to 

both school districts and joints powers agencies. (Id. at 9-13.) Accordingly, the Board 

concluded that the Legislature made a deliberate decision to exclude joint powers agencies 

from the definition of public school employer in EERA section 3540.1, subdivision (k).11 

 CMOs are not included within the definition of public school employer in EERA 

section 3540.1, subdivision (k). As the Board noted in North Orange County, “where a statute 

enumerates things upon which it is to operate, it is to be construed as excluding from its effect, 

all those not expressly mentioned.” (North Orange County, supra, PERB Decision No. 857 at 

8, citing Capistrano Union High School Dist. v. Capistrano Beach Acreage Co. (1961) 188 

Cal.App.2d 612, 617.) Accordingly, in this instance the plain language of the statute is 

________________________ 
public school employer of the employees at the charter school for 
the purposes of Section 3540.1 of the Government Code.  

 
11 In 1999, the Legislature amended EERA section 3540.1, subdivision (k), to include 

joints powers agencies. 
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sufficient to manifest the Legislature’s intent not to include CMOs within the definition of 

public school employer under EERA section 3540.1, subdivision (k).  

B. Jurisdiction under a single employer theory 

 Even though Alliance is not a public school employer within the meaning of EERA 

section 3540.1, subdivision (k), it may be still subject to EERA if it constitutes a single 

employer with the Schools. In El Camino Hospital District (2009) PERB Decision No. 2033-M 

(El Camino), the Board held that even if a private hospital was not a public agency within the 

meaning of Meyers Milias Brown Act (MMBA)12 section 3501, subdivision (c), it could still 

be subject to the MMBA under a single employer theory. (Id. at 18.) A single employer 

relationship exists where two nominally separate entities are actually part of a single integrated 

enterprise so there is, in reality, only a single employer. (Ibid.) In making this determination, 

the Board looks to four factors: (1) functional integration of operations; (2) centralized control 

of labor relations; (3) common management; and (4) common ownership. (Id. at 19, citing 

Public Transportation Services Corporation (2004) PERB Decision No. 1637-M; Trustees of 

the California State University (2006) PERB Decision No. 1839-H; NLRB v. Browning-Ferris 

Industries, Inc. (3d Cir. 1982) 691 F.2d 1117.) No single factor is controlling and all need not 

be present. (Ibid., citing NLRB v. O’Neill (9th Cir. 1992) 965 F.2d 1522, 1529.) 

 In El Camino, supra, PERB Decision No. 2033-M, the Board applied the four-part test 

and found a single employer relationship between the hospital district and the hospital based 

largely on the fact that the hospital district maintained latent control over the hospital. (Id. at 

19-21.) The district was the sole voting member of the hospital corporation under the hospital’s 

bylaws, and used this authority to appoint five of the six members of the hospital’s governing 

________________________ 
12 The MMBA is codified at Government Code section 3500 et seq. 
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board. (Id. at 5-6.) The district also owned the land where the hospital was situated, received 

rent from the hospital for the hospital building, and possessed a reversionary interest in the 

hospital’s corporate assets in the event of dissolution. (Id. at 7.) The district argued that it was 

not a single employer with the hospital because it did not play a role in the day-to-day 

operations of the hospital. (Id. at 20.) It did not propose or approve the hospital’s budget, 

which was maintained separately from its own. (Id. at 6.) It had no authority to dictate wages, 

hours, or other terms and conditions of employment for hospital employees. (Id. at 8.) The 

hospital maintained its own human resources department, and employees of the hospital had no 

employment relationship with the district. (Ibid.) The hospital’s CEO retained ultimate control 

over all personnel decisions, including hiring and firing. (Ibid.) The Board rejected the 

district’s argument on the basis that the district’s control of the hospital’s board granted it 

sufficient authority over the terms and conditions of employment for employees of the 

hospital. 

 Like the hospital district in El Camino, Alliance maintains sufficient latent control over 

the Schools such that it must be considered a single employer with the Schools. Alliance is the 

sole member the Schools’ corporations and has the authority to appoint the board of directors 

at each school. It has used this authority in such a way that the majority of each school’s board 

consists of members of the Alliance board of directors and the school principal, who is hired 

by the Alliance CEO and supervised by an Alliance Area superintendent. The CEO of Alliance 

also sits on the board of directors at each school. Alliance operates the corporation from which 

the Schools lease their facilities and collects rent from the Schools, and it possesses a 

reversionary interest in the Schools’ corporate assets in the event of dissolution.  
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 Alliance asserts that El Camino is distinguishable because there the hospital showed 

direct control over labor relations by ratifying a memorandum of understanding between it and 

the union representing hospital employees. However, Alliance has retained for itself the ability 

to exert direct control over labor relations at the Schools, and the record reflects several 

instances where it has done so at other schools in its network to resolve issues involving the 

use of sick leave and a negotiated separation from employment. In addition to this type of 

direct involvement, Alliance sets general guidelines governing teachers’ terms and conditions 

of employment. It issues an employee handbook to all teachers containing policies and 

procedures relating to discipline and discharge and the use of leave. These policies and 

procedures are to be followed absent any deviation by an individual school. Alliance also sets 

the salary schedule for all teachers in its network, issues curriculum guidelines for the schools 

in its network, and oversees mandatory network-wide professional development sessions. 

 Alliance argues that the Board’s decisions in Turlock School Districts (1977) EERB13 

Order No. Ad-18 (Turlock), Paso Robles Union School District, et al. (1979) PERB Decision 

No. 85 (Paso Robles), and Plumas Unified School District and Plumas County Superintendent 

of Schools (1999) PERB Decision No. 1332 (Plumas), require a finding that Alliance is not a 

single employer with the Schools. In Turlock, the Board held that two school districts 

operating a “common administration school district” were not a single employer where each 

had a separate governing board. (Id. at 14.) While the school districts shared facilities, 

management personnel, salary schedules, and policies and procedures, each governing board 

retained control over personnel decisions for employees in its respective district. (Id. at 16-17.)  

________________________ 
13 Prior to January 1, 1978, PERB was known as the Educational Employment 

Relations Board (EERB). 
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 In Paso Robles, the Board again held that two school districts with separate governing 

boards were not a single employer. (Id. at 10.) While the school districts shared a common 

administration, implemented some of the same policies, and maintained the same salary 

schedules, each district’s governing board was a separate policy-making body responsible to 

different constituencies and operated its own budget flowing from a different tax base than the 

other. (Ibid.)  

 In Plumas, the Board adopted the proposed decision of the hearing officer finding that 

the county superintendent and a school district were not a single employer. (Id. at 2.) The 

hearing officer found that while the county superintendent and school district shared common 

personnel, each was a separate legal entity with separate governing boards. (Id. at proposed 

decision pp. 23-24.) The two governing authorities had separate and exclusive policy-making 

authority and the funding sources and budgets of the two were not comingled. (Ibid.) In 

addition, there was no functional integration of operations between the two since at least half 

of the county’s programs took place separate and apart from the operations of the school 

district. (Id. at proposed decision p. 24) 

 The common thread underlying Turlock, Paso Robles, and Plumas was the authority of 

each school district’s governing board to act independently of the other. This case is 

distinguishable because the Schools lack that authority since Alliance has structured each 

School’s board of directors such that it can exert control over each one. Under this setup, the 

Schools’ board of directors are not truly separate from that of Alliance. It is unlikely that either 

of the Schools’ board of directors would contravene the wishes of Alliance’s board of directors 

when they include the same people. Accordingly, the facts here align more closely with El 

Camino than Turlock, Paso Robles, or Plumas. 
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 Alliance also argues that under Ravenswood City Elementary School District (2004) 

PERB Decision No. 1660 (Ravenswood), a charter school’s declaration as the public school 

employer is determinative and precludes another entity from consideration as the employer. 

However, Ravenswood does not stand for that proposition. There, the Board upheld an 

administrative law judge’s determination that the charter school, and not the school district, 

was the public school employer for purposes of EERA because the charter school’s declaration 

as a public school employer satisfied the requirements of Education Code section 47611.5, 

subdivision (f).14 (Ravenswood, supra, PERB Decision No. 1660 at 3.) Neither the Board nor 

the administrative law judge reached the issue raised in this case as to whether a CMO could 

be subject to EERA pursuant to a single employer theory.  

 However, the Board did reach the issue in Edison Schools, Inc. (2004) PERB Decision 

No. 1661 (Edison), a companion case to Ravenswood. In Edison, the Board upheld a board 

agent’s dismissal of the union’s unfair practice charge filed against the CMO affiliated with the 

charter school in Ravenswood. (Id. at 1.) The union argued that the CMO was a single 

employer with the charter school. (Id. at dismissal letter p. 2.) Rather than dismiss the union’s 

single employer argument as inconsistent with Ravenswood or EERA, the board agent found 

there were simply insufficient facts alleged to support a single employer theory in that case. 

(Ibid.) Accordingly, read together, Ravenswood and Edison do not support Alliance’s argument 

that a charter school’s declaration as the public school employer is determinative. Rather, those 

cases show that even in light of a charter school’s declaration as a public school employer, a 

CMO can be considered a public school employer under a single employer theory. 

________________________ 
14 That subdivision states, “By March 31, 2000, all existing charter schools must 

declare whether or not they shall be deemed a public school employer in accordance with 
subdivision (b), and such declaration shall not be materially inconsistent with the charter.” 
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 Based on the above, Alliance is a single employer with the Schools and falls within 

PERB’s jurisdiction pursuant to EERA. 

C. NLRA preemption 

Alliance argues that even if it is deemed a single employer with the Schools, the complaints 

must be dismissed as to it because the claims are governed by the NLRA, which preempts 

application of EERA and PERB’s jurisdiction over Alliance. In Options For Youth-Victor 

Valley, Inc. (2004) PERB Decision No. 1701 (OFY), a charter school did not dispute its status 

as a public school employer under EERA section 3540.1, subdivision (k), but asserted the 

designation was irrelevant since it was an employer under Section 2(2) of the NLRA and that 

status preempted the Board’s jurisdiction under EERA. (Id. at 7.) The Board rejected the 

charter school’s preemption argument, noting that Article 3, section 3.5 of the California 

Constitution states an administrative agency has no power  

To declare a statute unenforceable, or to refuse to enforce a 
statute on the basis that federal law or federal regulations prohibit 
the enforcement of such statute unless an appellate court has 
made a determination that the enforcement of such statute is 
prohibited by federal law or federal regulations. 
 

(Id. at 7-8, citing Cal. Const., art. III, § 3, subd. (c).) Since there was no appellate court 

decision in which the application of EERA to a charter school was declared to be 

unenforceable, the Board did not have the power to refuse enforcement of EERA. (Id. at 9.) 

 Like OFY, I know of no appellate court decision in which the application of EERA to a 

CMO was declared to be unenforceable. Accordingly, I am without power to declare EERA 

unenforceable as to Alliance and dismiss the claims in the complaints against Alliance. 

However, as stated in OFY, Alliance is not precluded from raising the federal preemption issue 

before PERB in order to preserve the issue for review in State court. (OFY, supra, PERB 
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Decision No. 1701 at 9, citing Delta Dental Plan of California, Inc. v. Mendoza (9th Cir. 1998) 

139 F.3d 1289, 1296; Southern Pacific Transportation Co. v. Public Utilities Commission of 

the State of California (9th Cir. 1983) 716 F.2d 1285, 1291, cert. denied, 466 U.S. 936.) 

Interference 

 The test for whether a respondent has interfered with the rights of employees under the 

EERA does not require that unlawful motive be established, only that at least slight harm to 

employee rights results from the conduct. In State of California (Department of Developmental 

Services) (1983) PERB Decision No. 344-S, citing Carlsbad Unified School District (1979) 

PERB Decision No. 89 (Carlsbad), and Service Employees International Union, Local 99 

(Kimmett) (1979) PERB Decision No. 106, the Board described the standard as follows: 

[I]n order to establish a prima facie case of unlawful interference, 
the charging party must establish that the respondent’s conduct 
tends to or does result in some harm to employee rights granted 
under EERA. 
 

Under the above-described test, a violation may only be found if EERA provides the claimed 

rights. In Clovis Unified School District (1984) PERB Decision No. 389, the Board held that a 

finding of coercion does not require evidence that the employee actually felt threatened or 

intimidated or was in fact discouraged from participating in protected activity. 

 If a prima facie case for interference is established, then PERB balances the degree of 

harm to protected rights against the employer’s asserted interests. (Hilmar Unified School 

District (2004) PERB Decision No. 1725 at 16, citing Carlsbad, supra, PERB Decision No. 89 

at 10-11.) “Where the harm is slight, the Board will entertain a defense of operational necessity 

and then balance the competing interests.” (Ibid.) On the other hand, “[w]here the harm is 

inherently destructive [of protected rights], the employer must show the interference was 

caused by circumstances beyond its control.” (Ibid.) The employer bears the burden of proving 
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the necessity of its actions. (Simi Valley Unified School District (2004) PERB Decision 

No. 1714 at 17-18.) 

 In analyzing whether employer speech interferes with employee rights, the Board has 

adopted the standard in the NLRA, which provides that the expression or dissemination of 

views, arguments, or opinion does not constitute, nor is it evidence of, an unfair practice as 

long as there is no threat of reprisal or force, or promise of benefit. (Rio Hondo Community 

College District (1980) PERB Decision No. 128 at 19-20.) Protected employer speech includes 

both favorable and critical speech and may lawfully refer to demonstrably predictable results 

of a particular employee organization position or campaign that are not within the employer’s 

control. (Id. at 19-21.) Whether the employer’s speech is protected or constitutes a proscribed 

threat or promise is determined by applying an objective rather than a subjective standard. 

(California State University (1989) PERB Decision No. 777-H at proposed decision p. 8.) 

Thus, “the charging party must show that the employer’s communications would tend to coerce 

or interfere with a reasonable employee in the exercise of protected rights.” (Ibid.) Further, 

statements made by an employer are to be viewed in their overall context (i.e. in light of 

surrounding circumstances) to determine if they have a coercive meaning. (Los Angeles 

Unified School District (1988) PERB Decision No. 659 at 9 (LAUSD).)  

A. March 16 fact sheet 

 UTLA argues several statements in Alliance’s March 16 fact sheet constitute unlawful 

interference. It argues the statement that a union authorization card is a binding legal document 

and that the law does not require “full disclosure” by unions interferes with the right of 

employees to sign authorization cards as did the employer’s statements in County of Riverside 

(2010) PERB Decision No. 2119-M (Riverside). However, the statements at issue here are of a 
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completely different character than those in Riverside. There, the employer’s representatives 

made statements to the effect that employees would get a union the day those representatives 

died or retired. (Riverside, supra, PERB Decision No. 2119-M at 9-10.) In addition, the 

employer’s governing board publically stated that if unionizing efforts continued, the employer 

would have to consider hiring temporary employees from outside the public agency. (Id. at 11-

12.) The Board concluded that these statements were coercive and interfered with employee 

organization rights. (Id. at 18-22.) In contrast, the statements regarding the binding nature of 

authorization cards and a union’s lack of obligation to present all the facts are facially neutral 

and include no threat of reprisal or promise of a benefit in exchange for specific action. 

 UTLA next argues the statements that joining a union does not guarantee increased pay 

or benefits and that collective bargaining has no time limit and does not require an agreement 

to be reached disparage collective bargaining by emphasizing its futility. Statements by an 

employer that employees’ organizing efforts are futile because the employer will not recognize 

or bargain with the union have been found to interfere with employee rights. (Riverside, supra, 

PERB Decision No. 2119-M at 19, citing BCE Construction, Inc. (2007) 350 NLRB 1047, 

1052; Overnite Transportation Co. (1989) 296 NLRB 669, 671, enfd. 938 F.2d 815 (7th Cir. 

1991).) However, Alliance does not state the teachers’ efforts to organize are futile. Nowhere 

does Alliance state or imply that it will not recognize or bargain with UTLA if it is certified as 

the exclusive representative. UTLA asserts that Alliance’s statements tend to discourage 

teachers and UTLA from continuing its efforts to organize, but that is not the correct standard 

of analysis. Alliance is not required to remain neutral in the face of UTLA’s organizing 

campaign and can exercise its free speech right so long as there is no threat of reprisal or force, 

or promise of benefit. 
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 UTLA next argues the statement that a union will lead to decreased flexibility and 

autonomy for Alliance schools is coercive. In support, it cites to Chula Vista Elementary 

School District (2004) PERB Decision No. 1647. However, that case is also distinguishable on 

its facts. There, the Board upheld an administrative law judge’s determination that a principal 

interfered with employee rights when he threatened to smear a teacher’s reputation in a way 

that could lead to her termination and he threatened physical violence against her. (Id. at 

proposed decision p. 23.) By contrast, in State of California (Department of Personnel 

Administration) (1998) PERB Decision No. 1249-S, the Board held that statements made by a 

management representative that if he were a union member he would run the “out-of-touch 

union leadership” out on a rail for failing to secure pay raises did not constitute a threat or 

promise under the Board’s objective test, despite it being inflammatory or repugnant to the 

union. (Id. at dismissal letter p. 2, 4.)  Here, the statements regarding the impact of 

unionization on Alliance’s autonomy and flexibility are not threatening or coercive. They are 

true statements. If UTLA becomes the exclusive representative, then Alliance will no longer 

have the ability to make unilateral decisions regarding the terms and conditions of 

employment. 

 Finally, UTLA argues the statements regarding its inability to secure pay raises and 

prevent layoffs of LAUSD teachers suggest a threat of reprisal if there is a union. In support, it 

cites to Imagine Schools of Imperial Valley (2015) PERB Order No. Ad-431 (Imagine 

Schools). Again, that case is distinguishable. In Imagine Schools, the Board upheld a board 

agent’s decision to stay a decertification election based in part on the distribution of a flyer that 

contained unsupported representations about the union. (Id. at 15.) Here, UTLA does not 

dispute the accuracy of Alliance’s statements regarding its inability to secure a pay raise or 
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prevent layoffs of LAUSD teachers. Furthermore, the statements contain no threat of reprisal 

should UTLA be recognized as the exclusive representative. 

 Based on the above, I find that the statements made in Alliance’s March 16 fact sheet 

are permissible employer speech, and the claims regarding that communication are dismissed. 

B. March 20 FAQ 

 UTLA argues several statements in Alliance’s March 20 FAQ constitute unlawful 

interference. UTLA argues that Alliance mischaracterized UTLA’s president when it quoted 

only a portion of a statement he made regarding charter schools. However, the quotation in the 

FAQ is accurate, and the FAQ contains a link to a website where readers can view the UTLA 

president’s entire statement. It is unclear how quoting from a union official’s own statement is 

coercive or threatening. 

 UTLA next argues that statements about the amount of union dues UTLA will collect if 

it becomes the exclusive representative and the inflexibility unionization brings are unlawful. 

With regard to the statement about union dues, UTLA does not dispute the accuracy of the 

statement. With regard to the effect of unionization on Alliance’s flexibility, as stated above, 

these are true statements. Again, it is unclear how these statements are coercive. 

 Finally, UTLA argues the statement that teachers should not sign authorization cards 

without all the facts is a command to teachers not to sign authorization cards and coerces them 

into refraining from engaging in protected activity. However, the FAQ does not command 

teachers to do anything vis-à-vis authorization cards. It only states that they should gather all 

necessary information before signing an authorization card. This is hardly coercive and does 

not impact a teachers’ ability to exercise free choice. 
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 Based on the above, I find that the statements made in Alliance’s March 20 FAQ are 

permissible employer speech, and the claims regarding that communication are dismissed. 

C. March 23 Katzir email 

 UTLA argues Katzir’s email threatens teachers with reprisal if they do not speak to him 

or put their faith in him before deciding to support UTLA. In support it cites to LAUSD, supra, 

PERB Decision No. 659, where the Board held a principal interfered with employee rights by 

demanding employees come to her first with problems before going to their union. (Id. at 11-

12.) However, the Board noted there is nothing inherently unlawful in the principal’s expressed 

policy that employees first come to her to try to resolve problems they might have, but the 

manner in which she made the comments was unlawful. (Id. at 12.) She did so while upset, 

angry, and irritated such that a reasonable employee would be discouraged from approaching 

the union for fear of reprisals. (Id. at 9-11.) Here, Katzir’s email does not strike the same tone 

as the principal in LAUSD. It is his introductory email to Alliance teachers on his first day as 

CEO and makes no directives, threats, or promises. The email does not indicate that attendance 

at the focus groups or even speaking to Katzir is mandatory. There is also nothing to indicate 

Katzir intends to poll teachers regarding their union support. Accordingly, I find that the 

statements made in Katzir’s March 23 email are permissible employer speech, and the claims 

regarding that communications are dismissed.  

D. March 23 letter to parents and families of Alliance students 

 In Riverside, supra, PERB Decision No. 2119-M, the Board held that an employer 

representative’s coercive statements could not have interfered with employee rights because 

employees never heard the statements. (Id. at 19.) Similarly, there is nothing in the record to 

show that teachers saw or were made aware of the contents of the March 23 letter to parents 
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and families of Alliance students. Therefore, it could not have interfered with their rights under 

EERA, and the claims regarding that communication are dismissed. 

E. Rhodes’ statements to Buckowski 

 The Board has recognized that an employer’s communication, although non-coercive 

on its face, may become coercive when seen as part of a total course of conduct in which the 

employer engaged. (Antelope Valley Community College District (1979) PERB Decision 

No. 97 at 21, citing NLRB v. Virginia Electric and Power Co. (1941) 314 U.S. 469.) Therefore, 

statements made by an employer are to be viewed in their overall context to determine if they 

have a coercive meaning. (Sacramento City Unified School District (1985) PERB Decision 

No. 492 at 25, citing John Swett Unified School District (1981) PERB Decision No. 188.)   

 Here, a reasonable employee would construe Rhodes’ statements as coercive when 

viewed in the overall context of the situation since they included veiled threats involving 

Buckowski’s upcoming evaluations. After Rhodes voiced her displeasure with the number of 

Smidt Tech teachers who had signed the Mission Statement and informed Buckowski that she 

could remove her name from the Mission Statement, she stated she had worked to keep 

Buckowski and chose not to record negative comments about her that she could have. Rhodes 

then referenced Buckowski’s formal observation occurring later that week, which goes toward 

determining teacher salary as well as whether a teacher will be offered reemployment the 

following year. A reasonable employee would conclude that removing her name from the 

Mission Statement would generate a more favorable score on the formal evaluation.  

 Alliance did not meet its burden to establish any operational necessity or competing 

interest that would justify Rhodes’ statements. It argues that Rhodes’ statements do not 

constitute unlawful interference because Rhodes was only responding to comments Buckowski 
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made about her evaluation. However, it is unclear how this makes the statement any less 

coercive. Buckowski brought up her evaluations in response to a question from Rhodes 

regarding why she chose to support UTLA, and Buckowski likely would not have raised the 

issue otherwise. Regardless of who raised the issue, Rhodes took the opportunity to highlight 

the fact that she had substantial control over Buckowski’s employment at Alliance, having 

withheld negative comments from Buckowski’s evaluation and worked to keep Buckowski 

even though she had evaluation scores beneath the threshold teachers typically needed to 

maintain to remain with Alliance.  

 Based on the above, Rhodes’ statements to Buckowski on March 18 constituted 

unlawful interference. 

F. Lavan’s statements to Goldbaum 

UTLA asserts that Alliance interfered with employee rights under EERA when Lavan: 

(1) told Goldbaum that UTLA was not the right partner for the teachers’ unionization effort; 

and (2) directed Goldbaum not to distribute union literature at any time during professional 

development. The first statement simply states Lavan’s opinion with no corresponding threat 

or coercion. UTLA asserts the statement was coercive because it came from a high level 

administrator. However, Lavan and Goldbaum had a good working relationship, and it seems 

unlikely that merely speaking to Lavan would cause Goldbaum any distress. To the contrary, 

the two of them spoke cordially and at length about various issues, most of which were 

unrelated to UTLA’s organizing campaign and had to do with the History Content Director at 

Alliance. Viewed in this context, Lavan’s statement about UTLA being the wrong partner for 

the teachers did not constitute unlawful interference. (See State of California (Department of 
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Personnel Administration), supra, PERB Decision No. 1249-S; Saddleback Valley Unified 

School District (2013) PERB Decision No. 2333.) Accordingly, that claim is dismissed. 

 Turning to the allegation that Lavan directed Goldbaum not to distribute union flyers at 

any time on campus, UTLA has not shown that Lavan made such a sweeping directive. 

Goldbaum testified that Lavan told her not to distribute flyers during “professional 

development.” The record is unclear as to what Lavan considered to be professional 

development time and whether she was directing Goldbaum not to distribute union flyers at 

any time during the day. However, Goldbaum’s testimony regarding her exchange with Lavan 

indicates that Lavan was upset because she mistakenly believed Goldbaum was distributing 

flyers during work time. This is reflected in the email Waller sent to Gertz-Ressler staff the 

next day where he raises his concern that teachers may be using work time to discuss 

organizing activities and reminds his staff that such activities are permissible so long as they 

are conducted during non-work time. When viewed in conjunction with Waller’s email, 

Lavan’s directive to Goldbaum that flyers not be distributed during “professional 

development” cannot be construed as including non-work time. Accordingly, the claim that 

Lavan directed Goldbaum not to distribute flyers at any time on campus is also dismissed. 

Denial of Access 

 EERA section 3543.1, subdivision (b), sets forth access rights for employee 

organizations as follows: 

Employee organizations shall have the right of access at 
reasonable times to areas in which employees work, the right to 
use institutional bulletin boards, mailboxes, and other means of 
communication, subject to reasonable regulation, and the right to 
use institutional facilities at reasonable times for the purpose of 
meetings concerned with the exercise of the rights guaranteed by 
this chapter. 
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The burden of justification is on the employer to show that its regulations are reasonable. 

(Richmond Unified School District/Simi Valley Unified School District (1979) PERB Decision 

No. 99 at 20 (Richmond).) It must show that its regulations are properly related to justifiable 

concerns about disruption and are narrowly drawn to cover the time, place, and manner of the 

activity without impugning on the content unless it presents a substantial threat to school 

operation. (Id. at 19.)  

A. Access to the Schools 

 Rhodes and Medrano’s interactions with UTLA organizers indicate the Schools do not 

permit union organizers to enter the campus at any time for any reason. Rhodes barred Foster 

from Smidt Tech even though Foster was attending a meeting with teachers during non-work 

time and had complied with campus policy by signing herself in at the front desk. While 

Goldstein and Yeh technically arrived at Luskin Academy during the teachers’ duty hours, 

their arrival was only minutes before the end of the work day. Furthermore, they made it clear 

to Medrano that they were there for a meeting that was scheduled to take place after the work 

day had concluded.  

 A categorical ban on employee organization access to school facilities is a clear 

violation of EERA section 3543.1, subdivision (b). Respondents attempt to justify the ban in 

several ways. They argue that UTLA has no right of access to the Schools because the right of 

access in EERA section 3543.1, subdivision (b), is limited to employee organizations 

designated as the exclusive representative. However, the language in that section makes no 

distinction between exclusive and non-exclusive employee organizations, and the Board has 

held that non-exclusive representatives possess a statutory right of access under EERA section 



 

 41

3543.1, subdivision (b). (Clovis Unified School District, supra, PERB Decision No. 389 at 5; 

Long Beach Unified School District (1980) PERB Decision No. 130 at 3-4.)  

 Respondents also argue Rhodes and Medrano were justified in restricting access to the 

Schools because the Schools are on private property. However, this ignores the fact that the 

Schools operate as public schools subject to EERA. Both Schools operate under the oversight 

of LAUSD, which must renew their charter petitions periodically for them to continue 

operating. Respondents cite to no authority to show that the Legislature intended to excuse 

charter schools operating on private property from the requirements of EERA section 3543.1 

when it made charter schools subject to EERA. Accordingly, the fact that the Schools operate 

on private property does not extinguish UTLA’s right of access to their facilities. 

 Based on the above, Respondents unlawfully denied UTLA access to the Schools when 

it directed Foster to leave Smidt Tech and blocked Goldstein and Yeh from entering Luskin 

Academy. 

B. Access to Alliance’s email system 

 The Board has yet to determine whether an employee organization’s statutory right of 

access in EERA section 3543.1, subdivision (b), includes access to an employer’s email 

system. However, several cases are instructive. In Richmond, supra, PERB Decision No. 99, 

the Board held that internal school mail systems constituted “other means of communication” 

and fell within employee access rights authorized by EERA section 3543.1, subdivision (b). 

(Id. at 12-13.) There, employee organizations at two school districts delivered bundled material 

to a central location for subsequent drop-off at scattered school sites. (Id. at 3.) A district 

official then approved the material before it was delivered to each school site for distribution in 
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teachers’ mailboxes. (Ibid.) The Board found that employer organizations should have access 

to this these types of internal mail systems because 

effective communication between employee organizations and 
their members is essential for productive employer-employee 
relations; and, mail systems are perhaps the most efficient and 
non-disruptive means of communication available to employees 
and their representatives. 
 

(Id. at 10.) It went on to state the terms of EERA section 3543.1, subdivision (b), showed that 

the Legislature desired effective communications to play a part in furthering EERA’s stated 

purpose, which is to “promote the improvement of personnel management and employer-

employee relations within the public school systems in the State of California.” (Ibid. citing 

EERA § 3540.) Therefore, it would be “anomalous, at best, to hold that section 3543.1(b) 

intended to exclude the use of a medium of communication that has been widely established 

over a period of time and proven to be effective, efficient, and non-disruptive.” (Ibid.) The 

Board also found that the unions’ access rights were not dependent on whether the employer 

had “opened the forum” for non-work use. (Id. at 13.) 

 In Trustees of the California State University (2003) PERB Decision No. 1507-H 

(CSU), the Board held that the university’s decision to unilaterally impose a new policy 

prohibiting non-official business use of its computer systems violated the Higher Education 

Employer-Employee Relations Act (HEERA)15 because the policy affected the union’s access 

rights to e-mail and other communication equipment, which is within the scope of 

representation. (Id. at 4-5.) It found that “computer resources, telephone and fax machines 

________________________ 
15 HEERA is codified at Government Code section 3560 et seq. HEERA section 3568 

contains language similar to EERA section 3543.1, subdivision (b), and provides employee 
organizations with statutory access rights to bulletin boards, mailboxes, and “other means of 
communication” subject to reasonable regulation. 
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comprise ‘reasonable’ means of access in a large academic institution.” (Id. at 4.) Therefore, 

the employer violated HEERA by adopting a computer usage policy that unlawfully restricted 

union access. (Id. at 8.)  

 When read together, Richmond and CSU strongly indicate that an employer’s email 

system falls under “other means of communication” in EERA section 3543.1, subdivision (b). 

Since the Board’s decision in CSU, the use of email has become even more prevalent in the 

workplace as a means of communication. As the record in this case demonstrates, 

administrators at Alliance and the Schools make extensive use of email to communicate with 

teachers and parents, both for targeted messages to specific individuals and for broadcast 

messages to large groups. The same is true for UTLA and individual teachers, who use email 

to communicate with each other regarding organizational activities. There is nothing to suggest 

that email causes any type of significant disruption to Alliance or the Schools’ operations.  It is 

exactly the type of effective, efficient, and non-disruptive medium of communication that the 

Board in Richmond found to be included within an employee organization’s statutory right of 

access. Accordingly, EERA section 3543.1, subdivision (b), provides UTLA a statutory right 

of access to Alliance’s email system subject to reasonable regulation. 

 Alliance argues the Board’s decision in Los Angeles County Superior Court (2008) 

PERB Decision No. 1979-C (LA Superior Court), requires a finding that UTLA does not have 

a right of access to its email system. However, that case is distinguishable because it arose 

under the Trial Court Employment Protection and Governance Act (Trial Court Act),16 

which—unlike EERA and HEERA—does not explicitly grant employee organizations a right 

of access to employer’s bulletin boards, mailboxes, and other means of communication. (Id. at 

________________________ 
16 The Trial Court Act is codified at Government Code section 71600 et seq. 
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9.) Furthermore, based on the facts of that particular case, the Board expressly declined to 

address the issue of whether a general right of access exists under the Trial Court Act. (Id. at 9-

10.) Rather, the issue in that case was whether the employer had enforced its email policy in a 

discriminatory manner.17 (Id. at 10.)  

 Turning to the facts of this case, as set forth above, there are insufficient facts to 

support a finding that Alliance completely blocked UTLA’s March 25 email from reaching 

teachers’ work email addresses. However, Alliance did admit in its Answer that it filtered 

UTLA’s March 25 email to a spam folder where the email could be accessed by individual 

recipients. “Spam” is defined as “unsolicited usually commercial e-mail sent to a large number 

of addresses.” (“Spam.” Merriam-Webster.com. Merriam-Webster, n.d. Web 25 May 2016.) 

Redirecting an email to a spam folder does not prevent the email from reaching its intended 

recipients, but it does make a comment as to its content and makes it less likely for the email to 

be seen in a timely manner or even at all. Therefore, interfering with the transmission of the 

email in this manner caused at least slight harm to UTLA’s right of access. 

 Although Alliance is permitted to regulate access to its email system, in this instance 

there are no facts to support a finding that its treatment of UTLA’s March 25 email was 

pursuant to any reasonable regulation. Alliance provides no justification for why it redirected 

UTLA’s email as spam, and the record does not contain a policy governing the treatment of 

third-party emails intended for simultaneous distribution to all Alliance teachers. Alliance does 

________________________ 
17 The Board’s decision in LA Superior Court, supra, PERB Decision No. 1979-C, was 

based in part on The Register-Guard (2007) 351 NLRB No. 70 (Register-Guard). However, in 
Purple Communications, Inc. (2014) 361 NLRB No. 126, the National Labor Relations Board 
expressly overruled its prior decision in Register-Guard. The Board has not yet had occasion to 
review LA Superior Court in light of the new standard set forth in Purple Communications, but 
the holding in that decision is called into question.  
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not explain why it redirected this particular email and whether it does so for all others it deems 

to be spam. There is also no evidence in the record to show that emails from third-parties 

intended for simultaneous distribution to all teachers slows down or causes any significant 

disruption to Alliance’s email system. Accordingly, Alliance did not meet its burden to show 

that the redirection of UTLA’s March 25 email was pursuant to reasonable regulation. 

 Based on the above, Alliance unlawfully denied UTLA access to its email system when 

it redirected UTLA’s March 25 email to teachers’ spam folders. 

REMEDY 

 PERB has broad remedial powers to effectuate the purpose of EERA. EERA section 

3541.1, subdivision (c), states: 

The board shall have the power to issue a decision and order 
directing an offending party to cease and desist from the unfair 
practice and to take such affirmative action, including but not 
limited to the reinstatement of employees with or without back 
pay, as will effectuate the policies of this chapter. 
 

In this case, it has been found that Respondents violated EERA by denying UTLA its 

statutory right of access and interfering with protected rights of an employee. It is appropriate 

under the circumstance to order Respondents to cease and desist from violating EERA. (Desert 

Sands Unified School District (2010) PERB Decision No. 2092.) Respondents are also ordered 

to post a notice signed by an authorized representative and incorporating the terms of the order 

below. (Ibid.) The notice posting order effectuates the purposes of EERA by informing 

employees that the controversy over this matter has been resolved and that the employer will 

comply with the ordered remedy. (Ibid.) The notice posting shall include both a physical 

posting of paper notices at all places where certificated employees at the Schools are 

customarily placed, as well as a posting by “electronic message, intranet, internet site, and 
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other electronic means customarily used by [Respondents] to communicate with its employees 

in the bargaining unit.” (Centinela Valley Union High School District (2014) PERB Decision 

No. 2378.) 

UTLA also requests as a remedy an order requiring a live reading by Katzir of the terms 

of the order to assembled employees. The National Labor Relations Board (NLRB) has held 

that the reading of a notice by a respondent is an “extraordinary” or “special” remedy that will 

be imposed only where required by the particular circumstances of a case. (Ishikawa Gasket 

America, Inc. (2001) 337 NLRB 175, 176, enfd. 354 F.3d 534 (6th Cir. 2004).) In cases where 

the NLRB has granted the remedy of notice-reading by a respondent or its representative, the 

conduct has been egregious. (Ibid.) For example, in one case where the remedy was granted, 

the employer, during multiple election campaigns, created the impression of surveillance, 

threatened employees with discharge, told employees the plant would close if a union came in, 

and had the mayor suggest to employees that unionization would cause the plant to close. 

(Wallace International de Puerto Rico, Inc. (1999) 328 NLRB 29, 29-30.) Here, Respondents’ 

conduct is not so egregious as to warrant a remedy of a notice-reading. Therefore, I decline to 

grant UTLA’s requested remedy of a live reading by Katzir. 

PROPOSED ORDER 

 Upon the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law, and the entire record in this 

case, it is found that Alliance College-Ready Public Schools (Alliance) violated Educational 

Employment Relations Act (EERA) section 3543.5, subdivisions (a) and (b), by interfering 

with United Teachers Los Angeles’ (UTLA) access to Alliance’s email system. Alliance, 

acting by and through Alliance Susan & Eric Smidt Technology High School (Smidt Tech) and 

Alliance Renee & Meyer Luskin Academy High School (Luskin Academy), further violated 
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EERA section 3543.5, subdivisions (a) and (b), by denying UTLA organizers access to the 

Smidt Tech and Luskin Academy campuses and making threatening statements to a Smidt 

Tech teacher. All other allegations in the complaints are dismissed. 

 Pursuant to EERA section 3541.5, subdivision (c), it hereby is ORDERED that 

Alliance, Smidt Tech, and Luskin Academy, and their governing boards and representatives 

shall:   

 A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM:   

  1. Interfering with UTLA’s statutory right of access. 

  2. Interfering with employees’ right to be represented by UTLA.  

  3. Denying UTLA its right to represent employees. 

 B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTIONS DESIGNED TO 
EFFECTUATE THE POLICIES OF EERA: 

 
  1. Within 10 workdays of the service of a final decision in this matter, post 

copies of the Notice attached hereto as an Appendix at all work locations where notices to 

employees at Alliance, Smidt Tech, and Luskin Academy are customarily posted. The Notice 

must be signed by an authorized agent of Alliance, Smidt Tech, and/or Luskin Academy, 

indicating that Alliance, Smidt Tech, and Luskin Academy will comply with the terms of this 

Order. Such posting shall be maintained for a period of 30 consecutive workdays. Reasonable 

steps shall be taken to ensure that the Notice is not reduced in size, altered, defaced, or covered 

with any other material. The Notice shall also be posted by electronic message, intranet, 

internet site, and other electronic means customarily used by Alliance, Smidt Tech, and Luskin 

Academy to communicate with teachers and counselors in the Alliance network of schools.  

  3. Written notification of the actions taken to comply with this Order shall 

be made to the General Counsel of the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB or Board), 



 

 48

or the General Counsel’s designee. Respondent shall provide reports, in writing, as directed by 

the General Counsel or his/her designee. All reports regarding compliance with this Order shall 

be concurrently served on UTLA. 

 Pursuant to California Code of Regulations, title 8, section 32305, this Proposed 

Decision and Order shall become final unless a party files a statement of exceptions with the 

Public Employment Relations Board (PERB or Board) itself within 20 days of service of this 

Decision. The Board’s address is: 

Public Employment Relations Board 
Attention: Appeals Assistant 

1031 18th Street 
Sacramento, CA 95811-4124 

(916) 322-8231 
FAX: (916) 327-7960 

E-FILE: PERBe-file.Appeals@perb.ca.gov 
 

 In accordance with PERB regulations, the statement of exceptions should identify by 

page citation or exhibit number the portions of the record, if any, relied upon for such 

exceptions. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 32300.) 

 A document is considered “filed” when actually received during a regular PERB 

business day. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, §§ 32135, subd. (a) and 32130; see also Gov. Code, 

§ 11020, subd. (a).) A document is also considered “filed” when received by facsimile 

transmission before the close of business together with a Facsimile Transmission Cover Sheet 

or received by electronic mail before the close of business, which meets the requirements of 

California Code of Regulations, title 8, section 32135, subdivision (d), provided the filing 

party also places the original, together with the required number of copies and proof of service, 

in the U.S. mail. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 32135, subds. (b), (c) and (d); see also Cal. Code 

Regs., tit. 8, §§ 32090 and 32130.) 
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 Any statement of exceptions and supporting brief must be served concurrently with its 

filing upon each party to this proceeding. Proof of service shall accompany each copy served 

on a party or filed with the Board itself. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, §§ 32300, 32305, 32140, 

and 32135, subd. (c).) 



APPENDIX 
NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES 

POSTED BY ORDER OF THE 
PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

An Agency of the State of California 

 

After a hearing in Unfair Practice Case Nos. LA-CE-6025-E and LA-CE-6027-E, 
United Teachers Los Angeles v. Alliance College-Ready Public Schools, Alliance Susan & Eric 
Smidt Technology High School, and Alliance Renee & Meyer Luskin Academy High School,  in 
which all parties had the right to participate, it has been found that Alliance College-Ready 
Public Schools (Alliance) violated the Educational Employment Relations Act (EERA), 
Government Code section 3540 et seq., by interfering with United Teachers Los Angeles’ 
(UTLA) access to Alliance’s email system. Alliance, acting by and through Alliance Susan & 
Eric Smidt Technology High School (Smidt Tech) and Alliance Renee & Meyer Luskin 
Academy High School (Luskin Academy), further violated EERA by denying UTLA 
organizers access to the Smidt Tech and Luskin Academy campuses and making threatening 
statements to a Smidt Tech teacher. 
 
 As a result of this conduct, we have been ordered to post this Notice and we will: 
 
 A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 
 
  1. Interfering with UTLA’s statutory right of access. 
 
  2. Interfering with employees’ right to be represented by UTLA. 
 
  3. Denying UTLA its right to represent employees. 
 
 
Dated:  _____________________ ALLIANCE COLLEGE-READY PUBLIC 

SCHOOLS, ALLIANCE SUSAN & ERIC SMIDT 
TECHNOLOGY HIGH SCHOOL, AND 
ALLIANCE RENEE & MEYER LUSKIN 
ACADEMY HIGH SCHOOL 

 
 
 
 By:  _________________________________ 
   Authorized Agent 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE.  IT MUST REMAIN POSTED FOR AT LEAST THIRTY 
(30) CONSECUTIVE WORKDAYS FROM THE DATE OF POSTING AND MUST NOT BE 
REDUCED IN SIZE, DEFACED, ALTERED OR COVERED WITH ANY OTHER 
MATERIAL. 


